STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 09 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

Appeal from York County  
Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000470  
Trial Court Case No. 2018GS4607326

---

THE STATE, .....APPELLANT,

v.

HAROLD GENE WHITE, III .....RESPONDENT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3713

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
Moss Justice Center  
York, S.C. 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss his charge of trafficking hydrocodone because hydrocodone is, pursuant to South Carolina law, a schedule II drug.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 12, 2018, the York County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for trafficking in hydrocodone (2018-GS-46-07326).<sup>1</sup> On March 12, 2019, Respondent proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable William McKinnon. Christopher Wellborn, Esquire, represented Respondent; Assistant Solicitor Erin Joyner, Esquire, represented the State. The trial judge dismissed Respondent's trafficking hydrocodone charge after finding hydrocodone was not a schedule II drug, rendering it ineligible for a trafficking-level offense. The State filed a timely Notice of Appeal, and this Brief of Appellant follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent was also indicted for possession with intent to distribute oxycodone (2018-GS-46-07327), possession of cocaine (2018-GS-46-03874), and possession with intent to distribute marijuana (2018-GS-46-03876). However, these charges were not dismissed and thus are not part of this appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to trial, the State requested a discussion as to whether Respondent would make any motions challenging the propriety of the trafficking hydrocodone indictment; it sought to resolve any issues with the charge prior to jeopardy attaching to it at trial. The State presented the trial judge with Alabama case law and statutes which indicate its nearly-identical statutory scheme classifies hydrocodone as a schedule II drug. It pointed out that while the trafficking statute, S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-370(e)(3), states “four grams or more of any morphine, opium, salt, isomer, or salt of an isomer thereof, including heroin” is directly referenced by the statute, the statute also refers to drugs “described in Section[s] 44-53-190 [and] 44-53-210” and “any mixture” containing these substances as falling under the subsection. S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-210(b) defines, in part the following substances as schedule II drugs:

- (1) Opium and opiate[s], and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation of opium or opiate, excluding Apomorphine, Nalbuphine, Naloxone, and Naltrexone, and their respective salts;
- (2) Any salt, compound, isomer, derivative, or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical with any of the substances referred to in paragraph (1), but not including isoquinoline alkaloids of opium.
- (3) Opium poppy and poppy straw;
- (4) Coca leaves and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation of coca leaves, and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical with any of these substances . . . .

Thus, according to the State, hydrocodone, an opiate, is a substance classified under S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-210, which in turn would make it a substance for which Respondent could be charged with trafficking under Section 44-53-370(e)(3), and the State was prepared to offer testimony to prove as much. (R.p.76, line 19–R.p.85, line 15; R.p.86, line 2–R.p.91, line 19; R.p.94, line 17–R.p.95, line 6).

The trial judge was concerned with the State’s interpretation of the statute, noting it was the State legislature’s duty to define the legality of drugs and that he must strictly construe

criminal statutes against the State; because “opium” and “opiate” are different terms, opiate itself does not appear in Section 44-53-370(e)(3), and hydrocodone is not a substance listed under S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-210, he believed hydrocodone was not a substance for which a trafficking offense could be charged under that subsection. Similarly, trial counsel agreed with the trial judge’s interpretation of the statute and his application of the rule of lenity. After hearing the arguments of both parties, the trial judge, who felt constrained by the rule of lenity, dismissed the charge, noting he was unable to discern the legislature’s intent on the issue. (R.p.85, line 16–R.p.86, line 1; R.p.91, line 20–R.p.94, line 16; R.p.95, lines 7–23; R.p.99, line 25–R.p.102, line 20).

On March 14, 2019, the trial judge issued a written order memorializing his dismissal, noting hydrocodone is a “synthetic derivative of codeine” and “chemically distinct” from heroin and morphine, and due to its differences from the drugs listed in S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-370(e)(3) and the rule of lenity, hydrocodone was not a substance for which trafficking could be charged under that section. (R.pp.1–4)

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). “The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion. Id. “An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” Id.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss his charge of trafficking hydrocodone because hydrocodone is, pursuant to South Carolina law, a schedule II drug.**

The trial judge erred in dismissing Respondent's indictment for trafficking hydrocodone because hydrocodone is a schedule II drug under South Carolina law, pursuant to a combination of statutory law and state regulations.

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). "A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers." Browning v. Hartvigsen, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992). "The statute must be interpreted with **realistic circumstances and rationales in mind.**" State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011)(emphasis added); State v. Baker, 310 S.C. 510, 512, 427 S.E.2d 670, 672 (1993) ("A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers."). Courts will reject an interpretation of a statute leading to an absurd result clearly unintended by the legislature. See Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000); Ray Bell Constr. Co. v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County, 331 S.C. 19, 26, 501 S.E.2d 725, 729 (1998) ("However plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in the statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature. . . .").

S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-370(e)(3), states "four grams or more of any morphine, opium, salt, isomer, or salt of an isomer thereof, including heroin" is directly referenced by the statute, the statute also refers to drugs "described in Section[s] 44-53-190 [and] 44-53-210" and

“any mixture” containing these substances as falling under the subsection. S.C. Code Ann.

Section 44-53-210(b) defines, in part the following substances as schedule II drugs:

- (5) Opium and opiate[s], and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation of opium or opiate, excluding Apomorphine, Nalbuphine, Naloxone, and Naltrexone, and their respective salts;
- (6) Any salt, compound, isomer, derivative, or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical with any of the substances referred to in paragraph (1), but not including isoquinoline alkaloids of opium.
- (7) Opium poppy and poppy straw;  
Coca leaves and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation of coca leaves, and any salt,

compound, derivative, or preparation thereof which is chemically equivalent or identical with any of these substances . . . .

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-160(A), the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) is responsible for recommending any additions, deletions, or revisions to the various schedules of controlled substances to General Assembly. When the legislature is not in session, DHEC may add, delete, or reschedule a substance and such an action has the full force of law unless later overturned by the General Assembly. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-160(B). Such changes are posted on DHEC’s website and include the effective date of the change. Id. Further, if a substance is added, deleted, or rescheduled pursuant to federal law or regulation, DHEC must reclassify such substance into the corresponding schedule under State law within thirty days. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-160(C). Similar to subsection (B), such additions, deletions, or changes have the full force of law unless later overturned by the General Assembly.

On August 22, 2014, the U.S. Department of Justice, Drug Enforcement Administration published a final rule to reschedule hydrocodone combination substances from a schedule III to schedule II controlled substance. Schedules of Controlled Substances: Rescheduling of Hydrocodone Combination Products from Schedule III to Schedule II, 79 Fed. Reg. 49,661–

49,682 (August 22, 2014); 21 C.F.R. § 1308.12 (2019). Based on that change, and the available date and information regarding hydrocodone combination products and their high potential for abuse, South Carolina also rescheduled hydrocodone to a schedule II controlled substance.

South Carolina Board of Health and Environmental Control, Rescheduling of Hydrocodone Combination Products from Schedule III to Schedule II for Controlled Substances, (September 11, 2014),

<http://wwwprod.dhec.sc.gov/Health/docs/BoardOrders/Signed%20Board%20order%209.11.14.pdf>.

In the instant case, hydrocodone is a schedule II substance under South Carolina law. After federal regulations reclassified the substance, DHEC followed suit and reclassified it pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 44-53-160(C). Nothing in Section 44-53-160 is ambiguous about DHEC's ability to reclassify controlled substances pursuant to federal law or regulations. Using said authority, DHEC reclassified hydrocodone as a schedule II drug in 2014, years before Respondent was indicted for his charged crime. Hydrocodone is explicitly defined as a schedule II drug, one for which a person may be charged for trafficking, and the trial judge erred in concluding otherwise.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the trial judge's dismissal of Respondent's indictment for trafficking hydrocodone.