STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jul 01 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from York County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

HAROLD GENE WHITE, III,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000470

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The trial judge erred in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss his charge of trafficking hydrocodone because hydrocodone is, pursuant to South Carolina law, a schedule II drug.

RESPONDENT'S COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Should the trial judge's interpretation of the trafficking statute under which respondent was indicted be affirmed where his reasoning was correct and the State's sole argument on appeal is not preserved?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was indicted for trafficking in York County and on March 12, 2019, the case was called before the Honorable William A. McKinnon. R. 5. Erin Joyner represented the State. R. 5. Christopher Wellborn represented respondent. R. 5. In a written Order filed March 14, 2019, Judge McKinnon dismissed the trafficking charge. R. 1. The State filed this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue—as presented below—only raised legal questions because the State conceded all factual issues. Therefore, the only proper issue on appeal is a pure question of law regarding statutory construction, which is reviewed *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge's interpretation of the trafficking statute under which respondent was indicted should be affirmed where his reasoning was correct and the State's sole argument on appeal is not preserved.

Judge McKinnon issued a comprehensive written order setting forth his interpretation of the trafficking statute and dismissing the indictment based on the Rule of Lenity. R. 1. The trial judge notes a concession by the State and rules on the argument presented at the hearing. R. 1. On appeal, the State challenges neither the concession made below nor the judge's reasoning based on the Rule of Lenity. Initial Br. App. at 6 – 8. Instead, the State makes a completely different argument based on statutes not cited to the trial judge. Because the reasoning of the Order below has not been challenged, those arguments are abandoned and the sole argument raised is not preserved and should not be considered by this Court.

The State indicted respondent for trafficking hydrocodone under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(3). R. 103. This statute does not mention hydrocodone. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(3). It prohibits trafficking: “any morphine, opium, salt, isomer, or salt of an isomer thereof, including heroin, as described in Section 44-53-190 or 44-53-210” or “any mixture containing any of these substances.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(e)(3).

The trial judge ruled that the State “conceded in this matter that hydrocodone” does not fit into the chemical description of morphine, opium, heroin, or their salts or isomers. R. 1. This finding was correct and has not been challenged on appeal. Judge McKinnon asked the solicitor, “I’m assuming from this argument that the State is not going to be able to offer evidence that

hydrocodone is morphine, opium, a salt, or a salt of an isomer, of these drugs, is that correct?” R. 82, l. 14 – 18. The solicitor replied, “Correct.”¹ R. 82, l. 19.

The solicitor then made an extensive legal argument that the court should read the word “opiate” into the statute. Tr. 79, l. 8 – 101, l. 7. Judge McKinnon dealt with this statutory argument in his Order and concluded that the Rule of Lenity controlled. R. 2. Nowhere is this ruling addressed in the argument made by the State on appeal. Therefore, this argument is deemed abandoned. See State v. Lindsey, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011).

The likely reason the State chose to abandon its argument below is because the trial judge’s ruling is correct. The court examined the meaning of the phrase “as described in Section 44-53-190 or 44-53-210” which the State argued brought “hydrocodone” under the trafficking statute’s sweep. Sections 190 and 210 list Schedule I and Schedule II substances. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-53-190 and -210.

Section 190 is the Schedule I list. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190. Part (B) includes “any of the following opiates” and their salts and isomers. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190(B). This list, which includes forty-seven (47) different chemicals, does not include hydrocodone. Id. Part (C) includes “any of the following opium derivatives” and their salts and isomers. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190(C). Part (C) lists twenty-three (23) different chemicals, but not hydrocodone. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190(C). The remainder of the statute has lists of hallucinogens, synthetic cannabinoids, depressants, and stimulants. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190(D) through (F). These three parts list over forty (40) different chemicals, but not hydrocodone. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-190(D) through (F).

¹ Despite claiming that he is not a chemist, Judge McKinnon gave a detailed and thoroughly researched scientific explanation in his Order of salts, isomers, and the chemical formulas of these drugs which has not been disputed.

Section 210 is the Schedule II list. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-210. Like Section 190, this statute also refers to opium, opiates, and their derivatives, but does not mention hydrocodone in its list of over thirty (30) different chemicals. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-210.

As noted by the trial judge, the State's argument below contended that sections 190 and 210 imported "opiates" into the trafficking statute. R. 3. But as the court correctly ruled, the Legislature has specifically defined "opiates." R. 3. That definition states:

"Opiate" means any substance having an addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine or being capable of conversion into a drug having addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability. It does not include, unless specifically designated as controlled under this article, the dextrorotatory isomer of 3-methoxy-n-methylmorphinan and its salts (dextromethorphan). It does include racemic and levorotatory forms.

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-110(31). The trial judge perhaps understated his conclusion that this definition "is staggeringly vague and broad." R. 3. This definition could encompass any substance having addictive qualities. The court noted that nicotine could be included in this definition. R. 3.

Criminal statutes must put a person on notice of the proscribed conduct. See State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 630, 591 S.E.2d 600, 603 (2004). Statutes that do not provide fair notice are vague, overbroad, and ambiguous. The statutory definition of opiates is far too inclusive and broad, therefore, the trial judge's resort to the Rule of Lenity was correct. This rule provides that penal statutes must be strictly construed against the State. State v. Simpson, 429 S.C. 83, 90, 837 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2020). The statutes list nearly one hundred chemicals, but never mention hydrocodone and the trafficking statute does not use the term "opiate." The inclusion of hundreds of obscure chemicals and compounds demonstrates the intent of the Legislature to exclude those not specifically included. See Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) ("The canon of construction 'expressio unius est exclusio alterius' or 'inclusio unius

est exclusio alterius’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’”).

The State’s new argument on appeal relies upon DHEC’s regulatory classification of drugs to import hydrocodone into the trafficking statute. But for a passing mention that drug schedules “can change according to DHEC action,” none of the statutes relied upon by the State in this portion of its argument are mentioned below. R. 94, l. 18 – 95, l. 6. A party may not rely on one argument at trial and another on appeal. See State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). The State’s brief mention of “DHEC action” was not sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the argument and preserve the issue for this Court. See Broom v. Se. Highway Contracting Co., 291 S.C. 93, 105, 352 S.E.2d 302, 309 (Ct. App. 1986), *abrogated by* Davenport v. Cotton Hope Plantation Horizontal Prop. Regime, 333 S.C. 71, 508 S.E.2d 565 (1998) (“[An] objection must be specific enough to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector and to show the opposite party the point of the objection, so that he may have an opportunity to obviate the error, if possible.”). Furthermore, the trial judge did not address this argument in his comprehensive written Order and the State did not seek reconsideration.

Even if this Court were to waive the procedural bar and address the merits of its new argument on appeal, the trial judge’s application of the Rule of Lenity should still be affirmed. The DHEC document cited by the State is also ambiguous.² While the title states it is rescheduling hydrocodone combination products from Schedule II to Schedule III, the text of the document only cites the statute for Schedule III, section 44-53-230. Id. It states that it is “removing paragraphs (e)(3) and (e)(4) and redesignating paragraphs (e)(5) through (e)(8) as

² <https://www.scdhec.gov/sites/default/files/docs/Health/docs/BoardOrders/Signed%20Board%20order%209.11.14.pdf>

(e)(3) through (6), respectively.” Id. Importantly, it does not mention the code section for the Schedule II list (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-210) in the text. It does not state that it is moving the chemicals from Schedule II to Schedule III in the text. It only states that it modifies the Schedule III list code section. Again, the Rule of Lenity applies. In order to put respondent on notice, the DHEC document would need to, at a minimum, include a reference to the Schedule II code section.

As a direct result of the State’s failure to raise this argument below, this Court is also ill-equipped to answer the factual question of whether the substance respondent allegedly possessed is described by the chemicals listed in the DHEC document. The DHEC document uses the term “hydrocodone,” but the chemicals listed in the Schedule III code section are codeine, dihydrocodeinone, dihydrocodeine, ethylmorphine, opium, and morphine. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-230(e). Whether hydrocodone in the abstract or the actual substances allegedly possessed by respondent meet these chemical definitions was not litigated below and this Court does not have a proper record on which to rule. The lack of a record is precisely why procedural bars exist. The State was the first to raise this issue below—apparently for the purpose of obtaining a ruling from this Court. R. 76, l. 19 – 78, l. 16. R. 98, l. 5 – 102, l. 20. If the State intended to obtain an appellate ruling by raising this issue below, it needed to create a full record (both factual and legal) for this Court. Judge McKinnon’s Order should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.